FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/13/2023 4:12 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101713-8

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 56536-6-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ELIZABETH BARTLETT, an individual

Petitioner,

v.

ESTATE OF ROBERT PARMAN,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Camille Minogue, WSBA #56405 Attorneys for Appellant Bartlett 1000 Second Avenue Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 829-9947

I. Tables

A.

II. Identity of Petitioner

Appellant Elizabeth Bartlett asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part III of this petition.

III. Court of Appeals Decision

Opinion in *Elizabeth Bartlett v. Estate of Robert Parman*, No. 56536-6-II, filed November 15, 2022, and subsequent denial of motion for reconsideration, filed January 12, 2023. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-19. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-20.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

1. Whether the Court of Appeals, Division II erred by not recognizing the exception to filing a creditor's claim within the 2-year period in the non-claim statute embodied in RCW 11.44.051(1)(c) for claims to specific property, such as an unjust enrichment claim seeking an equitable lien against specific property of a decedent, an exception recognized by Supreme

Court case law.

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals, Division II effectively announced new standards (i) for what constitutes a frivolous claim under RCW 4.84.185 and (ii) for awarding attorney's fees under that statute, and whether the Supreme Court should accept review to clarify and modify those effective new standards before adverse impacts arise.
- 3. Whether the policy implications of the Court of Appeals, Division II decision will cause a chilling effect among practitioners particularly plaintiff's attorneys who because of the ruling may be reluctant to pursue equitable claims upon grounds for relief that may be found within the interstices of case law or based on reasoning where even courts may disagree.

V. Statement of the Case

A. Underlying Facts.

Elizabeth purchased the 7.1-acre Renata Lane property in 1997 with \$117,000 received as an early inheritance from her parents. CP 377. Over the course of the next fifteen years or so,

she spent another \$143,000 of her separate property on barns, fencing, a riding arena and other permanent and valuable improvements, along with many hours of her physical labor. CP 391 ¶ 52, CP 392 ¶ 57.

To obtain a construction loan to build a house on the property, Elizabeth and her husband Shawn quitclaimed the Renata Lane property to his parents, Robert and Ruth, who ultimately obtained a loan secured by the property. CP 384-385. The house was built, and Shawn and Elizabeth lived upstairs, while Robert and Ruth lived downstairs in a walk-in basement apartment. CP 409 at 9.

The quitclaim deed to Robert and Ruth was premised on the understanding that Elizabeth and Shawn would each receive one-half of the property upon the deaths of Robert and Ruth. CP 672 ¶¶ 13-14. The parallel wills of Robert and Ruth executed in October of 2004 made that disposition. CP 675-682. Robert died about five months later in February of 2005. CP 390 ¶ 51.

Over the next twelve years or so, Elizabeth continued

paying one-half of the monthly mortgage payment and one-half of the taxes, insurance and utilities. CP 392 ¶ 56. The arrangement among the parties was to live together under one roof, share costs and thereby reduce living expenses. CP 378 ¶ 17.

Shawn and Elizabeth divorced in 2017. CP 393 ¶ 59. Despite oral promises to Elizabeth that Elizabeth should "trust" Ruth to will 50% of the property to Elizabeth, Ruth changed her will in the latter part of 2017 to remove Elizabeth and leave all her property to Shawn. CP 390-1 ¶ 51.

Before the instant lawsuit, Elizabeth filed a lawsuit in 2018 against Ruth and Shawn in Thurston County Superior Court (the "2018 lawsuit") alleging various theories of recovery including unjust enrichment, breach of contract, breach of a joint venture agreement, and tortious interference with contract/business expectancy. CP 11-18.

Ruth died in 2019, and her estate was substituted for her in the 2018 lawsuit against Ruth and Shawn. In 2020, Shawn

filed an intestate probate of Robert's estate in King County Superior Court, having taken no action with respect to Robert's estate for the previous fifteen years. Given this timing, Elizabeth construed the initiation of the probate of Robert's Estate in 2020 as a basis for Shawn's arguments in the 2018 lawsuit to reduce the scope of her unjust enrichment claim to a period after Robert's death.

Accordingly, upon receiving notice of the probate, Elizabeth filed a creditor's claim in Robert's probate case. After it was rejected, she filed a lawsuit against Robert's estate in 2020 including similar claims in her 2018 lawsuit. Elizabeth's complaint asserted a claim of unjust enrichment against the Estate of Robert Parman based on the significant value of improvements and her labor she had contributed to the property over a fifteen-year period. CP 8-9, § V; CP 9 ¶ 5.4. She further asserted that she was "entitled to an equitable lien or constructive trust to protect her interest in the Renata Lane property." Complaint, ¶ 5.4. CP 546. The goal was to have the two cases

consolidated so that the trier of fact could resolve all of the issues together. See Section V B, entitled "Procedural Background" below.

Ultimately, Shawn as the personal representative of Robert's Estate, moved to dismiss all of Elizabeth's claims against Robert's Estate on the grounds that she did not file a creditor's claim within two years of Robert's death in 2005, as generally required by the non-claim statute, RCW 11.44.051(1)(c). The trial court treated the motion as one for summary judgment.

At the hearing on the motion, the trial court acknowledged Elizabeth's claim of "unjust enrichment or it gives rise to an equitable lien." VRP (Oct. 22, 2021) at 21. However, the trial court treated Elizabeth's claims as tied to "an alleged joint venture and partnership agreement between the four parties and seeking some kind of enforcement against those claims." *Id.* at 22. Accordingly, the trial court treated all of Elizabeth's claims as claims against the decedent and therefore coming within the

2-year non-claim statute. *Id.* The trial court dismissed all of Elizabeth's claims on summary judgment on that basis. CP 510-11.

The trial court's error was ignoring the effect of Elizabeth's unjust enrichment claim seeking the remedy of an equitable lien. Case law has treated such a claim as a claim for specific property, which is exempt from the 2-year non-claim statute. *Slough v. Calderbank*, No. 68155-9-I (Wash. Ct. App. Dec 23, 2013) (unpublished) (citing binding precedent for the holding that a person asserting unjust enrichment claim seeking an equitable lien against specific property not required to file a creditor's claim). The Court of Appeals here made the same error as the trial court: it ignored Elizabeth's unjust enrichment claim and the equitable relief sought under that claim and treated the case as one solely of a joint venture or partnership.

After the trial court's dismissal of the instant case, the trial court awarded a judgment of \$15,934.10 in attorney's fees and costs against Elizabeth on the basis that her lawsuit against

Robert's estate was "frivolous" and advanced without reasonable cause under RCW 4.84.185. CP 709-712. Elizabeth superseded the judgment (CP 726) and timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 714.

Elizabeth asserts that she made a "rational argument" in support of her unjust enrichment claim seeking the remedy of an equitable lien, when her argument fell exactly within the holding and opinion of Judge Cox in *Slough*, which was predicated on Supreme Court case law in recognizing an exception to the non-claim statute when a claim to specific property is made.

B. Procedural Background.

The instant case originally hails from the King County Superior Court and was filed by the appellant/plaintiff, Elizabeth Bartlett ("Elizabeth"), in 2020 under case no. 20-216689-8 KNT. CP 5-10. As noted above, Beth alleged a claim of unjust enrichment, among other claims. CP 8-9, § V.

While venued in King County Superior Court, respondent/defendant, Estate of Robert Parman, filed a motion to

dismiss the case. CP33-45. Judge Allred denied the motion to dismiss and in the same order granted Elizabeth's motion to transfer venue of the case to Thurston County. CP 246-248. The purpose of the venue transfer was to consolidate the instant case with the 2018 lawsuit venued in Thurston County Superior Court. *Id*.

On October 22, 2021 (after the instant case had been transferred to Thurston County Superior Court), respondent Estate of Robert Parman again moved to have the instant case dismissed on summary judgment. CP 356-370. This time the trial court granted the Estate's motion. CP 510-511.

The Estate moved for attorney's fees and costs, arguing for the first time that Elizabeth's action was frivolous, among other arguments, as bases for the court to award fees and costs. CP 512-520. On November 22, 2021, the trial court ruled on the motion, entering an order awarding attorney's fees and costs

against Elizaeth "under the authority of RCW 4.84.185." CP 667.

Meanwhile, on November 1, 2022, Elizabeth filed a motion for reconsideration of the trial court's order of dismissal. CP 577-585. The trial court denied Elizabeth's motion for reconsideration on November 22, 2022. CP 665-66.

Finally, on December 17, 2021, the trial court entered findings that Elizabeth's "complaint was frivolous and advanced without a reasonable basis because there is no rational argument that can be advanced, nor were there any rational arguments made[.]" CP 711, ¶10.

Beth timely appealed the trial court's orders on December 20, 2021. CP 714-725.

The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on

¹ RCW 4.84.185 sets forth that "the court . . . may, upon written findings by the judge that the action . . . was *frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause*, require the nonprevailing party to pay the prevailing party the reasonable expenses, including fees of attorneys . . . " [italics added].

November 15, 2022, affirming the trial court's orders and awarding attorney's fees and costs in favor of Robert's Estate on appeal under RCW 11.96A.150.² The Court of Appeals did not determine that the appeal was frivolous. Elizabeth filed a motion for reconsideration. The Court of Appeals denied the motion on January 12, 2023.

VI. Argument

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with Supreme Court Precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals decision does not recognize an exception to the non-claim statute under RCW 11.44.051(1)(c) for unjust enrichment claims against specific property of a decedent, an exception that is recognized by the Supreme Court.

The basis for the Court of Appeals decision is its view that the two-year non-claim statute applicable under RCW 11.44.051(1)(c) was strictly construed and absolute, and even though Elizabeth's claim did not ripen until twelve years after

² The Court of Appeals has not yet ruled on the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded.

Robert's death in 2005, her failure to file a creditor's claim within a two-year period was fatal to her claim.

The Court of Appeals decision failed to recognize an exception to the non-claim statute, where an unjust enrichment claim seeking the remedy of an equitable lien or constructive trust is asserted against specific property. ³ See, Slough v. Calderbank, No. 68155-9-1 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 23, 2013) (unpublished), which concluded that the Supreme Court cases of Olsen v. Roberts, 42 Wn.2d 862, 865, 259 P.2d 418 (1953) and Smith v. McLaren, 58 Wn. 2d 907, 909, 365 P.2d 331 (1961) "are binding precedent that this court must follow." Slough at 19. The Slough court went on to conclude:

Both cases [Olsen and Smith] establish that Slough was not required to file a creditor's claim in this case. That is because he asserted an equitable lien claim to specific property of the estate, his wife's home. The matter was not one of "claimed indebtedness."

³ Elizabeth also recorded a notice of lis pendens against the property based on her asserted claim of equitable lien. CP 182. Shawn's motion to cancel the lis pendens was denied. CP 405-6.

[Italics added.] *Slough* at 19. *Slough* holds directly and squarely that a claim of unjust enrichment seeking the remedy of an equitable lien on specific property is a claim to specific property which does not come within the non-claim statute, RCW 11.44.051(1)(c). ^{4, 5}

Elizabeth's equitable unjust enrichment claim seeking the remedy of an equitable lien on specific property, i.e., the Renata Lane property, is not a claim of debt Robert incurred in his lifetime. Again, it is a claim to be paid out of specific property

⁴ The Court of Appeals in *Slough* thus overruled the arbitrator's determination that any equitable lien that Slough had was barred because he failed to timely file a creditor's claim. *Slough* at 4. A court commissioner had previously determined that Slough's deceased wife's house was her separate property, as it was

acquired before her marriage. *Slough* at 3.

⁵ It may be noted that Judge Cox, who authored the opinion in *Slough*, also concurred two years earlier in the opinion in *Estate of Earles*, 164 Wn. App. 447, 262 P.3d 832 (2011), which articulated that a claim against a decedent "includes claims arising out of obligations that the decedent incurred during his or her lifetime but are not due at the time of the decedent's death or at the expiration of the creditor's claims filing period." *Earles*, 164 Wn. App. 447, 449.

encumbered by an equitable lien.⁶

"Unjust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained absent any contractual relationship because notions of fairness and justice require it." *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008). The trial court erroneously ignored Elizabeth's unjust enrichment claim, strictly construed the two-year non-claim statute, then applied that statute to all of Elizabeth's claims in dismissing them. The Court of Appeals essentially did the same thing.⁷

If Flizabeth had asserte

⁶ If Elizabeth had asserted a claim for unjust enrichment seeking a damage remedy only, and not an equitable lien, then her claim would not be against specific property, but would be a "claim against the decedent" within the meaning of RCW ch. 11.40. Porter v. Boisso, 188 Wn. App. 286, 297, 354 P.3d 892 (2015). ⁷ The Court of Appeals also improperly engaged in fact finding. Edwards v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., 61 Wn.2d 593, 598-99, 379 P.2d 735 (1963) ("The function of ultimate fact finding is exclusively vested in the trial court."). It noted that Shawn and Elizabeth did not list the Renata Lane property in their bankruptcy schedules, and therefore they cannot later pursue a claim against the property, citing *Bartley-Williams v. Kendall*, 134 Wn. App. 95, 98-99, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006). However, later cases have undermined that conclusion. Arp v. Riley, 192 Wn. App. 85, 92-93, 366 P.3d 946 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1031, 377 P.3d 722 (2016) ("[a] party's nondisclosure of

Unjust enrichment allows a plaintiff to recover the value of a benefit retained by the defendant but without any promise or contractual relationship between the parties. *Bircumshaw v. Wash. State Health Care Auth.*, 194 Wn. App. 176, 205, 380 P.3d 524 (2016). Accordingly, Elizabeth is not required to prove that Robert made a promise to her about leaving her 50% of the Renata Lane property. She is not required to prove that a contract existed between her and Robert.

To prove unjust enrichment, Elizabeth need only demonstrate that (1) Robert's estate received a benefit, (2) the benefit was at Elizabeth's expense, and (3) the circumstances make it unjust for Robert's estate to retain the benefit with no payment. *Puget Sound Sec. Patrol, Inc. v. Bates*, 197 Wn. App.

a claim in bankruptcy does not automatically lead to estoppel in a future suit," especially where a party lacks knowledge or has no motive to conceal the claims"). Also, Elizabeth spent over \$100,000 in improvements *after* the bankruptcy filing, for which she could assert an equitable lien. CP 392 ¶ 57. In addition, the trial court did not reach the bankruptcy and other issues because of its ruling dismissing Elizabeth's complaint. VRP (Oct. 22, 2021) at 23.

461, 475, 389 P.3d 709 (2017) (citing *Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 484-85).

These requirements are satisfied here. (1) Elizabeth conferred a benefit upon Robert's estate by purchasing the 7.1-acre Renata Lane property and making permanent, valuable improvements to the real property over more than fifteen years. CP 377, ¶ 14; CP 401-402.

(2) Robert was aware of the benefit, because he was living on the property at the time many of the improvements were made, and even assisted in making some of them. CP 418, ¶ 48; CP 391 ¶ 52; CP 391-92 ¶ 55. Elizabeth also made many permanent improvements after Robert's death in 2005, and Ruth and Shawn, who were named as executors of Robert's estate in Robert's will, were aware of Elizabeth's improvements because Ruth and Shawn were living on the property at the time the improvements were made. CP 392 ¶ 57; CP 681. The improvements substantially increased the value of the Renata Lane property. CP 392 ¶ 52.

(3) Robert's Estate retained the benefit of Elizabeth's expenditures without paying their value, such that it is unjust for the estate to retain the benefits without paying for them. Of course, the estate's retaining the benefits without paying for them became *unjust* only after Ruth decided not to pay for the benefits and changed her will in 2017 to leave Elizabeth out of the will.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Substantially Alters the Standard Set by Supreme Court Precedent for What Constitutes a Frivolous Claim. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The decision also conflicts with Supreme Court precedent by effectively announcing new standards for what constitutes a frivolous claim under RCW 4.84.185 and for awarding attorney's fees under that statute.

Under RCW 4.84.185, a prevailing party in a civil action is entitled to seek fees for defending a frivolous action.

"An appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal." *Tiffany Family Trust v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn. 2d 225,

241, 119 P.3d 325 (2005). "[A]ll doubts as to whether the appeal is frivolous should be resolved in favor of the appellant." *Id*.

As to whether an action is frivolous, "[t]he action or lawsuit is to be interpreted as a whole." *Biggs v. Vail*, 119 Wn.2d 129, 136, 830 P.2d 350 (1992). Where three of four claims are judged to be frivolous but the fourth claim is not, the action as a whole is not frivolous and it is improper to grant attorney fees under RCW 4.84.185. *Biggs*, 119 Wn.2d at 137.

Elizabeth had a rational basis to argue that her claim for unjust enrichment seeking an equitable lien on specific property did not fall within the non-claim statute. Elizabeth's unjust enrichment claim comes directly within the scope of *Slough* based on Supreme Court case law. Elizabeth's case as a whole is therefore not frivolous. The trial court's awarding of attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.185 was an abuse of discretion.

If a court opinion that has not been reversed is on point and supports an argument, then it cannot be said that such argument has no rational basis, unless the judge writing the opinion has no rational basis for his or her decision, a conclusion that is not likely. Accordingly, since Elizabeth relied upon the *Slough* decision to base her argument, this Court should not find that argument frivolous. *Slough* was cited to the trial court (CP 605) and to the Court of Appeals in Elizabeth's motion for reconsideration.

C. The Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A predictable consequence of the Court of Appeals' ruling is the chilling effect that will be felt among members of the Bar – particularly plaintiff's attorneys – who, because of the ruling, may be reluctant to pursue equitable claims upon grounds of relief that are often found within the interstices of case law or in areas where even courts disagree upon matters such as what is a claim against a decedent (undefined in the statute), what constitutes a claim to specific property, when and whether a claim arose after the decedent's death and similar issues.

The standards implied by the Court of Appeals Division II

for what constitutes a frivolous claim under RCW 4.84.185 and for awarding attorney's fees significantly move the goal posts for practitioners and are likely to cause widespread confusion among litigation attorneys. The Supreme Court should accept review to modify and clarify the adverse and unintended impacts from such a change.

VII. Conclusion

Elizabeth requests reversal of the trial court judgment imposing attorney's fees and costs on Elizabeth as the result of an allegedly frivolous claim. Elizabeth also seeks reversal of the decision of the Court of Appeals upholding the trial court's dismissal of Elizabeth's unjust enrichment claim, with a remand to the superior court for further proceedings on that claim. Elizabeth further seeks reversal of the award by the Court of Appeals of attorney's fees in favor of the Estate of Robert Parman on appeal under RCW 11.96A.150, if this Court reverses the Court of Appeals on any issue or reverses the trial court on any issue.