FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2023 11:08 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101713-\_\_\_ Court of Appeals No. 56536-6-II

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ELIZABETH BARTLETT,

Appellant,

VS.

#### **ESTATE OF ROBERT PARMAN**

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

M. Owen Gabrielson, WSBA# 34214
Meghan M. Gross, WSBA# 58650
FARR LAW GROUP, PLLC
1110 Stevenson Ave., Ste. 100
P.O. Box 890
Enumclaw, WA 98022
(360) 825-6581
Attorneys for Shawn Parman,
Personal Representative for the
Estate of Robert Parman

## **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This Court should deny Elizabeth Bartlett's Petition for Discretionary Review ("Petition") because the Court of Appeals decision (the "Decision") meets none of the criteria for review.

Claims against an estate for the debt of a dead person must be brought within two years of death. RCW 11.40.051(c). There are no exceptions; only situations where the statute does not apply. *Id.* Bartlett argues that the Decision conflicts with *Olsen v. Roberts*, 42 Wn.2d 862, 259 P.2d 418 (1953) and *Smith v. McLaren*, 58 Wn.2d 907, 365 P.2d 331 (1961), which held that such a claim is not required when one is not seeking a "debt" of the decedent, but rather one's own property.

In contrast to *Olsen* and *Smith*, Bartlett did not have an interest in the property she claims. *See Bartlett v. Est. of Parman*, No. 56536-6-II, 2022 WL 16944991, at \*9 (Wn. App. Nov. 15, 2022), stating:

Elizabeth's repeated attempts to assert that the exceptions to the nonclaim statute preclude application of the two-year statute of limitations

fail because Elizabeth does not possess any interest in the Renata Lane property, which means her claim is against Robert's Estate and the nonclaim statute applies.

Id.

Olsen and Smith are inapt. The Decision does not conflict with Olsen or Smith.

The Decision affirming the trial court's frivolous action attorney fee award also does not conflict with a decision of this Court. Bartlett argues she made a "rational" argument and so therefore her claim was not frivolous. Petition at 17. Her argument—that her lawsuit was for specific property in which she held an interest—was neither rational nor debatable because she did not have an interest in the property. She never articulated a remotely valid basis for such interest. *See e.g.*,

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bartlett's claim against Robert Parman for unjust enrichment is a claim for damages, not for ownership. *See* Creditor Claim, CP 53.

Resp. Br. at 27, 47; *Bartlett v. Est. of Parman*, 2022 WL 16944991, at \*9.

Finally, this case presents no substantial issues of public interest requiring determination. It is a private dispute between private parties. The Decision is unpublished and therefore not binding authority. The only "chilling effect" would be to dissuade others from commencing frivolous litigation, which is wholly consistent with RCW 4.84.185's purpose.

#### **B.** IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is Shawn Parman ("Shawn"<sup>2</sup>) in his capacity as the personal representative for the estate of his father, Robert Parman ("Robert").

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Shawn asks this court to deny the Petition to review the Decision which (i) affirmed the Thurston County Superior Court's dismissal and awarded attorney fees under RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> First names are used for clarity. No disrespect is intended.

4.84.185; and (ii) awarded attorney fees on appeal under RAP 18.1.

#### D. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

Under RAP 13.4(b), the Petition presents the following issues:

1. Does the Decision conflict with *Olsen v. Roberts* or *Smith v. McLaren*, which held that claiming one's own property against an estate does not require the claimant file and serve a creditor claim under RCW 11.40 *et seq*?

ANSWER: No. Bartlett did not have a property interest in her father-in-law's home (the "Renata Lane property") There is no conflict.

2. Does the Decision conflict with this Court's standard for determining an action is "frivolous" under RCW 4.84.185 and *Biggs v. Vail*?

ANSWER: No. Bartlett's argument that she need not timely file a creditor claim because she was claiming property

she owned was neither rational nor debatable where it was abundantly obvious she had no interest.

# 3. Does the Decision involve issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine?

ANSWER: No. This is a private dispute between private parties and Washington's frivolous action statute, RCW 4.84.185 is purposed to deter meritless lawsuits like this one, and is settled law.

# 4. Should this Court award the Estate attorney fees for answering the Petition?

ANSWER: Yes. Bartlett continues to rely on authority that would only apply if she had an interest in the Renata Lane property. But she has no interest. And she has not cited any authority, much less made a rational argument, that a timebarred unjust enrichment claim against a decedent (to whom she was never married) could ever create such an interest.

### E. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2020 Petitioner sued the estate of her late former father-in-law,<sup>3</sup> Robert, on a theory of unjust enrichment. CP 5. In her complaint, she alleged that she paid for improvements to certain real property that Robert owned with his wife Ruth (referred in this case as the "Renata Lane property"). CP 6-7. Bartlett alleges she funded the improvements using separate property funds (and separate property labor) and should therefore recover the value of those improvements from Robert's estate. CP 7.

Bartlett's initial pleadings demonstrated that she did not understand Washington law governing claims against decedents. She thought that when a spouse dies, not only does the decedent spouse's property pass to the surviving spouse, but so do the debts, and thus equity would allow her to pursue

<sup>3</sup> Shawn and Elizabeth were divorced in 2016. CP 100. Robert died in 2005. CP 5.

Robert's debts against his surviving spouse, Ruth. CP 6 (lines 14 through 16); CP 9. As Bartlett became educated on Title 11, and realized she was incorrect, she leveraged imprecision in her prior pleadings to try and assert an "alternate" claim to avoid Washington's non-claim statute. Her argument was no longer premised solely on a debt of *Robert*, but rather a claim to the property itself as if she were an owner. CP 465, 472; VRP 14 (Oct. 22, 2021). But, as noted by the Court of Appeals in its unpublished opinion, she did not have an ownership interest. *Bartlett v. Est. of Robert Parman*, 2022 WL 16944991 at \*9. She had quitclaimed the property to her in-laws almost two decades earlier. CP 279.

The trial court was not persuaded. It dismissed her complaint and awarded the Estate attorneys' fees under Washington's frivolous action statute, RCW 4.84.185. CP 510, 667, 709.

The Washington Court of Appeals was also not persuaded. It affirmed the trial court, and awarded Shawn

appellate attorney fees under RAP 18.1 and RCW 11.96A.150.

Bartlett v. Est. of Parman, 2022 WL 16944991 at \*9.

Bartlett now petitions this Court for discretionary review.

#### F. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This Court should deny the Petition because it does not satisfy any of the necessary criteria for this Court to accept review.

## 1. Legal Standard for Accepting Review.

This Court accepts review of Court of Appeals decisions that terminate review under Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b), which provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

*Id.* (emphasis added).

Bartlett has not established any of the necessary criteria for this Court to accept review.<sup>4</sup>

# 2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decisions.

The Decision does not conflict with *Olsen v. Roberts* or *Smith v. McLaren*.

Olsen and Smith are inapt. Those two cases each involved a surviving spouse's claim against the estate of their decedent spouse. In each case a creditor claim was unnecessary because the plaintiffs were not alleging a debt owed them by the decedent, but instead were laying claim to their own property. See Olsen, 42 Wn.2d 865-66; Smith, 58 Wn.2d at 909.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Bartlett does not argue any grounds under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and thus Shawn does not present argument under that subsection.

Here, Bartlett alleged a debt owed her by Robert; not a specific property interest. CP 5. Once she realized that Washington's non-claim statute has a strict two-year bar, she shifted her claim into one for ownership based on the improvements she alleged she made to the property. CP 465, 472; VRP 14 (Oct. 22, 2021). But she never articulated a basis for her ownership other than rote citation to *Olsen*, *Smith*, and their progeny. CP 138, 474. The Court of Appeals decision therefore does not conflict with *Olsen* or *Smith*.

The Decision also does not conflict with any published Court of Appeals cases. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2). While Bartlett does not identify any such cases, she cites one unpublished case, *In re Est. of Slough*, No. 68155-9-I, 2013 WL 6835212

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In Washington a spouse can acquire a community property interest in her spouse's separate property by inputting labor and improvements. *See, e.g., In re Carmack's Est.*, 133 Wash. 374, 380, 233 P. 942 (1925). But *Carmack* also does not apply. Bartlett was not married to her then father-in-law at the time she alleges that she improved his property.

(Wn. App. Dec. 23, 2013) which in turn relies on *Olsen* and *Smith. Estate of Slough* involved a surviving spouse's claim to his own community property against his wife's estate, and is therefore inapt. *Id.* at \*9 (stating, that *Olsen* and *Smith* "establish that Slough was not required to file a creditor's claim ... because he asserted an equitable lien claim to specific property of the estate, <u>his wife's house</u>.") (emphasis added); *see also*, note 5, *supra*. Bartlett was not claiming an interest in her husband's house but rather her father-in-law's house. *See* note 5, *supra*.

3. The Court of Appeals decision to affirm the trial court's attorney fees award does not conflict with any Supreme Court decisions.

Bartlett contends that her citation to *In re Est. of Slough*, cited *supra*, demonstrates that she had at least a "rational" argument for a property interest in the Renata Lane property vis-à-vis improvements she allegedly made to the Renata Lane property. That argument lacks merit for three reasons. First,

Bartlett never cited *Slough* in her briefing. App. Reply Br. at ivvii (Table of Authorities); App. Opening Br. at vi-ix (Table of Authorities).

Second, Estate of Slough (and the authority upon which it relies) involved a surviving spouse's claim to his own property. 2013 WL 6835212 at \*9. Here, Bartlett argued she was claiming "specific property" but never demonstrated an ownership interest, or articulated the basis for her claimed ownership. Instead, she just declared it so, calling it an "equitable lien" based on an allegation of unjust enrichment to Robert that was already time-barred. App. Reply Br. at 4. All the while she ignored the clear difference between *Olsen* and Smith (spouses with community property between them), and her case (father-in-law to whom Bartlett was never married). CP 489-91. In briefing to both courts below, Shawn stressed that Bartlett had never articulated a legal basis for her claimed ownership. *Id.*; Resp. Br. at 47-48. Rather than address Shawn's argument head-on, Bartlett ignored it, instead preferring rote

repetition of the holdings in *Olsen* and *Smith* as evidence the issue was "debatable" without ever supplying the debate. Nor could she, because there is no debating that Bartlett's fifteen-year-old claim against Robert Parman for unjust enrichment was time-barred. RCW 11.40.051(c).

# 4. The Court of Appeals decision does not involve issues of substantial public interest requiring determination.

The Decision does not involve a substantial public interest that requires determination. Bartlett and the Estate of Robert Parman are private parties. The Decision is unpublished, and thus not binding authority. GR 14.1.

Bartlett argues the Decision will chill plaintiff attorneys from pursuing "equitable claims" where courts "disagree upon matters such as what is a claim against a decedent." Petition at 19. This is wrong for three reasons.

First, Bartlett has not shown that courts have disagreed on "what is a claim against a decedent". *Id*.

Second, the Decision is unpublished. It binds no courts other than the trial court in this case (after the mandate issues). GR 14.1; RAP 12.5.

Third, attorneys and parties who charge hard with little heed to an adversary's defense *should* be chilled. The frivolous action statute, RCW 4.84.185, is specifically designed to *discourage* exactly what happened in this case. *See Biggs v. Vail*, 119 Wn.2d 129, 137, 830 P.2d 350, 354 (1992) ("[t]he frivolous lawsuit statute has a very particular purpose: that purpose is to discourage frivolous lawsuits and to compensate the targets of such lawsuits for fees and expenses incurred in fighting meritless cases."). Public policy favors <u>denying</u> the Petition and awarding Shawn attorney fees in connection with this Answer.

# G. THIS COURT SHOULD AWARD ATTORNEY FEES

Under RAP 18.1(j) and RCW 11.96A.150, the Estate requests an award for the attorney fees incurred in answering

the Petition. The Estate informed her early-on that her lawsuit was frivolous. CP 512, 549, Resp. Br. at 59. Even now, she continues with her "specific property" gambit, and still has not demonstrated even *an argument* for her claimed ownership in the Renata Property (other than the time-barred "unjust enrichment" claim, which is a debt, not ownership). CP 472.

In Appellant's Opening Brief, she claimed the entire lawsuit was "simply part of a defensive measure" to have all her claims heard in one proceeding" App. Br. at 57. This so-called "defensive measure" now continues here, in this Court, and continues to cost the Estate attorney fees. Bartlett should recompense the Estate its fees for the same reasons discussed by the Court of Appeals. *Bartlett v. Est. of Parman*, 2022 WL 16944991, at \*9.

Fees are also appropriate under RAP 18.9 because the Petition is frivolous. Washington appellate courts award fees on appeal to parties who have abused the appellate rules or filed frivolous appeals. *Millers Cas. Ins. Co. v. Biggs*, 100 Wn.2d 9, 665

P.2d 887 (1983); *Boyles v. Dep't of Retirement Sys.*, 105 Wn.2d 499, 716 P.2d 869 (1986).

... [A]n appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal.

Streater v. White, 26 Wn. App. 430, 435, 613 P.2d 187, review denied, 94 Wn.2d 1014 (1980).

The Petition presents no debatable issues, ignores the unambiguous nonclaim statute, relies on two cases that hinge on the claimant's ownership interest in property, yet she does not own the property. This is frivolous. This Court should award the Estate attorney fees for this Answer.

#### H. CONCLUSION

The Decision does not conflict with any decisions of this Court; and the Petition presents no public interest issues requiring determination. This Court should deny Bartlett's petition and award the Estate attorney fees under RAP 18.1 and 18.9.

This document contains 2,458 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.